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Stepney or White House Farm
Near Chestertown
4th quarter 17th Century (?)

In 1659 Peter Bovery, mariner, was granted 500 acres on the west
side of the Chester River adjoining the lands of Mark Penxax (Radcliffe
Cross).1 The grant extended from Radcliffe Creek to Barroll Bight along the
river and included lands later taken up by both Chestertown and the Kent
Free School. The land escheated to the Proprietor and was later (1666) re-

patented to Mary Bateman.2

In the 1728 deed for the Kent Free School land there is reference
that Mary Bateman sold her land to Richard Perry who later sold it to Mary
Tilghman, widow of Dr. Richard Tilghman (d. ¢. 1675).3 Mary Tilghman sold
the 500 acre tract to Simon Wilmer, who had married her daughter Rebecca.
This deed, however, was not recorded. In 1688 Mary Tilghman transferred
her adjoining 1000 acres called Tilghman and Foxley Grove (Patented 1675),

to Simon and Rebecca Wilmer .4

Simon Wilmer originally came to the Patuxent area of Maryland in
1678 or 79. By 1680 he was in the area which was to become Kent County
where 500 acres, located adjacent Tilghmans & Foxley Grove, was patented
to him under the name Wilmer’s Farm. He continued acquiring and selling
land for the next fifteen years and became involved in many aspects of 17th
century colonial life. He was burgess from Kent County between 1689-1699,
served as surveyor of Kent County in 1694 and assisted in laying out the

boundary between the newly established parishes of the county. Wilmer



also served as one of the first vestrymen for St. Paul’s Parish. He died in
Kent County in September of 1699 and was buried at the Hermitage the

home of his brother-in-law in Queen Anne’s County.5

Simon and Rebecca Wilmer (d. 1725) may have built the 1-1/2 story
brick house (19’ x 38’) now forming the back section of the present house.
Fig. From the little that is visible, it can be conjectured that the walls were
laid originally in Flemish bond with glazed headers above an English bond
basement. The lack now of original fabric makes the initial kitchen situation
uncertain. It may have been located in the basement or was perhaps a
detached structure. Eventually it was later replaced with a new kitchen on
the east gable of the house. The unusual feature about the later kitchen is
that it had a full basement at a period when most kitchens were built with a
dirt or brick floor close to the grade. The only sure way of dating the back
wing is by dendrochronology on original timbers or by archeological

investigation.

From additional information in the basement it appears that the
space was divided into two nearly equal spaces with chimneys at both ends.
The arch support on the east end continued through the wall in such a way
as to suggest there was a bulkhead on this end, just as was done at Rich Hill

near Sassafras.

The first alteration to the building appears to be the addition of the
later kitchen on the east, a 19’ x 19’ structure which appears on the 1783

Tax Assessment and in an overmantel painting originally painted in the

house in the 1790's and now at Washington College.6 In that painting, the
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house is depicted with four windows and a door centered between the two
easterly windows. This arrangement corroborates the evidence for a brick
division wall nearly centered in the structure. It also affirms the evidence
for two end chimneys, but the presence of a third chimney complicates the
interpretation, unless, it belongs to a leanto on the north side of the
building, traces of which are not immediately visible.

Simon Wilmer II acquired most of Stepney after his father’s death.
When the county was resurveyed in 1706, he was responsible for the laying
out of “Chester Town,” the new county seat, which was situated on his own
land. Soon after, he began to sell lots. Simon Wilmer, II, also continued to
operate the grist mill which he had inherited from his father and
established a saw mill.7 He is most likely responsible for the construction of
the brick Miller's House mentioned in his will and which will be discussed
later. In 1737, Simon II left specific farms to his sons William, Lambert and
Charles and lots in town to his daughters Dorcas, Mary and Margaret, but to
Simon II1, he left “all the rest & residue of my lands, houses and

improvements,” ie. Stepney.8

Apparently, Simon III moved to the Sassafras River on a farm now
called Shorewood. Lambert, his brother, owned Stepney in 1750, when his
will was written. Lambert bequeathed Stepney to his son Simon IV,9 who
owned the farm and mill in 1783, when the Tax Assessment was recorded.
Simon IV, son of Lambert owned 123 acres of Tilghman and Foxley Grove
and 127 acres of Stepney in that assessment. There were eight whites and
two blacks living on the farms. The buildings are briefly described as “two

brick dwelling houses and kitchens, one grist mill, 7 out Houses, two
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orchards - joining Chestertown.”10

Simon IV was a contributor to the founding of Washington College
and holder of Pew No. 19 at the Chapel of East of Chester Parish in
Chestertown. His first wife was Ann Ringgold and his second, Mary Dunn.
When Simon IV wrote his will in 1794, he bequeathed “the land on which I
now dwell with the houses and improvements ...” to his son James. To his
second son Simon V, be bequeathed land extending from the “lot sold to the
trustees of the poor at the foot of Stoney Hill” (opposite Chester Cemetery)
to and including the Grist Mill. His son William H. Wilmer received the land
bordering the Grist Mill on the opposite side of the road from Simon’s
bequest. John Ringgold Wilmer’s bequest adjoined that of William and the
College lands. Peregrine, his seven year old son, received a parcel of land
between those of James and William and daughter Ann received a “lot
adjoining the Methodist meeting House, now in occupation of Thomas

Worrell ...” (at the end of Princess St.). He even made provisions for an

unborn child, which as it turned out, was Lemuel.11

When Simon’'s inventory was listed in 1798 the appraisers were the
same as for the estate of Emory Sudler, his neighbor at Radcliffe Cross,
John Rowles and Joseph Garnett. The estate inventory included eleven

slaves and eighteen horses and the total value was over @1525. Simon V and

James were the executors of his estate.12

In 1801 James Wilmer and his wife Ann, who had moved to Queen
Anne’s County, sold the home place to Thomas Worrell. It is unknown if

A
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Thomas and his wife, Ann, had any familial connection with the Wilmers. If
not, their seven year ownership of Stepney would be the only break in

family ownership for many years.13

Rev. Simon Wilmer V purchased Stepney from Thomas Worrel in
1808, then sold it in 1818 to his youngest brother Lemuel.14 Lemuel sold the
home as well as the lot left him by his father in 1822 to his second cousin
Mary Frisby Gordon, the wife of Joseph N. Gordon (daughter of James and

Ann Frisby of the Violet Farm; her great grandfather was Simon 1I).15

Joseph Nicholson Gordon is referred to as “Dr. Gordon” in the
account of the Battle of Caulk’s Field. He was the Clerk of the Court
between 1822-1845. In the Tax Assessment for 1846, Gordon is listed as
residing at the Nicholson House on Queen Street. In that same year, he and
his wife Mary sold Stepney to their son, James Frisby Gordon, who had
resided there as early as 1841. In this deed Stepney is referred to as
“commonly called White House.”16 The Tax Assessment mistakenly records

James’ personal property in the town instead of in the 2nd Election District.

Joseph N. Gordon was buried in the family graveyard south of the
house. None of the markers remain, but three stones were retrieved from
the creek in recent years, one being that of Joseph N. Gordon who died at

age 73 years in 1848.

James F. Gordon and his wife Sarah Marie were undoubtedly
responsible for constructing the three story, five-bay long brick structure

on the east side of the old house. Its exterior is severely simple with a full
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length porch on its east facade. When constructed, the house had a low-
pitched hip roof, with monitor in the center similar to Middle Plantation. In
form it was also like Fairfield. Judging from the photograph taken around
the turn-of-the century, the oldest part of the house was raised to two full
stories, but built of frame. On the west end of the old building a three-bay,
one-and-a-half story, frame wing was constructed, probably housing a
kitchen and pantry. Fig.

The interior of the ‘new’ house was quite simple, with large
proportions. The stairhall was nearly twelve feet wide having a continuous
railing from the carved newel post to the third floor. Its painted, tapered
balusters were identical to those at Radcliffe Cross, but the latter are of
natural tiger maple. When constructed, the north parlor had six windows,

but two flanking the fireplace were later bricked up.

James F. Gordon had, like his father, been Clerk of the Court (1851-
56) for Kent County. Before selling the property in 1862 to his brother-in-
law, he and his family had moved to Howard County.17 James B. Ricaud, his
brother-in-law, was Judge of the Circuit Court of this district and intimately
involved with affairs of the area, including Washington College. He and his
family lived at the “White House Farm” until his death in 1866, after which
time it descended to his second wife, Cornelia, and later to his daughter
Mary Rebecca Walker, wife of William S. Walker.18

William Walker was the son of John W. and Elizabeth Constable
Walker, born in 1832. He attended Washington College and Princeton and
returned to farm. In 1884 he was elected judge of the Orphans Court. He

was very active in the Episcopal Church and was on the board of Visitors




and Governors of Washington College.

In fulfiliment of James B. Ricaud’s will, after the death of Mary R.
Walker, his farm Stepney was to go to his granddaughter Anna Walker,
who was later to marry Walter H. Beck of St. Louis, MO. Both mother and
daughter, however, joined in a deed in 1909, transferring Stepney to Walter
Wright for nearly $5,000 less than Judge Ricaud had paid for it in 1862.19

Walter and Joanna Wright lived at Stepney until 1924 when they
sold the farm to Frank H. Worrell of Swarthmore, Pennsylvania,20 who
subsequently sold it to Thomas W. Spranklin in 1928.21 In 1928 and 1936,
the Spranklins sold off several parcels along the water for an oil company,
the National Guard Armory, and the sewage treatment plant.

Perhaps it was the income from the sale of the waterfront that
enabled the Spranklins to undertake the most ambitious remodeling of
Stepney since that of James Frisby Gordon in the 1850’s. Their remodeling
included removing the third story and replacing the whole with a bold
gambrel roof giving more headroom to the two third floor rooms. On the
back section, the one-and-a-half story frame wing, which appears in the
early photograph, was removed. The west gable of the old house was
demolished and a six foot extension was added. At the same time, the second
story was reconstructed of old brick, producing a more typical antebellum
house than had been produced seventy-five years earlier. A porch was built
across part of the south facade. Its new plan then consisted of a kitchen and

dining room, with pantry and back stair between. Fig.
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Sarah Spranklin, in 1936, sold the farm three years after the death of
her husband Thomas.22 Margaret R. Massey, a nurse for the County Health
Department, owned the farm for ten years, during the same period she
owned the Harris House on High Street. Between 1946 and 53, Stepney was
owned by John and Lois Jones, from New York and later Detroit.23 In 1953
Arthur and Esther Lusby purchased the farm and established a trotting

track, which remains in use today.24

Patents, Lib. 4, fol. 472.

Patents, Lib. 10, fol. 198.

Land Records, Lib. JS 10, fol. 267.
Land Records, Lib. C, fol. 125.

ok W

Skirven, Percy, Seven Pioneers of the Colonial Eastern Shore,
Maryland Historical Magazine Vol. Page 414, 19 .

6. Janson-LaPalme, Robert J. H., A View of Chestertown from the
White House Farm, Maryland historical Magazine, Vol. 88, 1993, P. 38-51.
Mr. Janson-LaPalme’s article illustrates and documents the house and the
painting which originally was an overmantel in one of the rooms. The
painting depicts not only the house and its smaller kitchen wing, but also a
bee-hive oven on the kitchen gable covered by a shed.

7. When Rebecca Wilmer died in 1725 it was stipulated in her will that
her “Negro man James” ‘keep’ the mill for two years for Simon II’s use, as
well as the use of her brother Richard Tilghman. Tilghman had bought a
half interest in the mill in 1709. James was to be set free after his two years
of service at the mill. Simon II was executor of his mother’s will.

8. Wills, Lib. 2, fol. 58.

9. Wills, Lib. 3, fol. 137.
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23.

1783 Tax Assessment, Worton and Chester Hundred.
Wills, Lib. 7, fol. 608.

Inventories, Lib. 11, fol. 50.

Land Records, Lib. TW 1, fol. 514.

Land Records, Lib. BC 5, fol. 293; Land Records, Lib. WS 2, fol. 268.
Land Records, Lib. TW 4, fol. 166.

Land Records, Lib. JNG 12, fol. 252.

Land Records, Lib. JKH 3, fol. 215.

Wills, Lib. JB 1, fol. 334; Lib. JF 1, fol. 354.

Land Records, Lib. JTD 19, fol. 575.

Land Records, Lib. RRA 2, fol. 640.

Land Records, Lib. RAS 3, fol. 346.

Land Records, Lib. RAS 15, fol. 512.

Land Records, Lib. RAS 40, fol. 205.

Land Records, Lib. WHG 29, fol. 162.
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White House Farm, Stephney Manor 18th Century, mid-19th Century
Chestertown

Private

The present day Stepney Manor incorporates the brick walls of
an early manor house into a large country residence which did not
achieve its present form until early in the 20th century. Now form-
ing a part of the rear ell, the early house was a five bay brick
gambrel roof building which faced Chestertown; it was built by the
Wilmers, a prominent early Kent family. By the middle of the 19th
century a large brick building with bracketted cornice and wide
front porch was constructed; the present gambrel roof was added
about 1919. 1Inside is a graceful Victorian stair with "Tigers Eye"
maple balusters and walnut newel.
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DESCRIPTION
3 CONDITION CHECK ONE CHECK ONE
X EXCELLENT —DETERIORATED —UNALTERED X ORIGINAL SITE
—GOOD —_RUINS X ALTERED __MOVED DATE
—FAIR —UNEXPOSED

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The present day Stepney Manor incorporates the brick walls of
an early brick manor house into a large country house which did
not achieve its present form until early in the 20th century. For-
tunately the early house, now only a shell, has been well documented
through the years for it once hosted the Marquis de Lafayette and
other notable Revolutionary period figures. The house itself was
painted by Charles Wilson Peale with Chestertown in the back ground.

The present building stands west of Chestertown, facing the
Chester River but set back about %+ mile from it. The main house is
a two and one-half story gambrel roof brick building, with a one

story, five bay porch which extends across the entire front. The house

was probably constructed in the middle of the 19th century with the
earlier house forming an ell to the rear. As initially constructed
the main house was a typical one of its period: five bays wide, one
room deep, it had a flat roof, short, enclosed end chimneys and a
central entrance and stair hall, Most interior and exterior details

of the building date from this period. Windows have 6/6 sash on both

first and second floors, plain projscting wooden sills, and 1"

bead trim. The deep lintles above the windows have turned corner
blocks. The main entrance is massive and simple with two-panel
double doors and sidelights with tiny panels beneath each. Bolecti
moldings enrich the entrance ensemble; there is a five-pane transom

light. There were originally two windows in each room in both gables

and two 3/3 sash windows in the attic. These windows were topped
by flat arches. Those on the southeast gable, first floor have
been closed. The porch has a central pediment and square Doric type
columns. Wooden bracketts are used beneath the cornice.

Around 1919, the present gambrel roof was added. Seams along
both sides of the now squat chimneys show that the roof was made
taller. The present roof has a bold cornice and return and three
shed dormers with double 3/3 sash windows in each.

Inside,the most striking element of the interior is the stair
which rises with in a well to the third floor. Tigers Eye maple is
used for the plain tapered balusters and the newel is walnut.
Architrave trim used on the windows and doors of the interior is
heavy and plain showing Greek Revival influence.

The original building was a five bay gambrel house which faced
Chestertown (roughly northeast). It has glazed headers in its
Flemish bond facade and a stepped water table over basement windows
similar to those used on the Buck-Bacchus Store, 116 High Street
Chestertown (K-37 )& The Reward, Walnut Point, Quaker Neck (K-9OS
Fragments of a fireplace arch in the cellar, southeast wall and
hearth framing,& northwest wall,suggest that there were end chimneys
The position of the original stair is unknown; a present s air in
the center of the building is a 20th century introduction. One old
wooden lintel remains in the southwest wall center bay suggest this
window originally was a wide door. Such a wide door is also found

in The Reward and appears to have been an entrance leading to a
kitchen or other service facility. The Peale painting shows that
CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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B} SIGNIFICANCE
’ERIOD AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE -- CHECK AND JUSTIFY BELOW

—PREHISTORIC —ARCHEOLOGY-PREHISTORIC _COMMUNITY PLANNING —LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE __RELIGION
——1400-1499 __ARCHEOLOGY-HISTORIC __CONSERVATION —LAW __SCIENCE
—1500-1599 __AGRICULTURE __ECONOMICS __LITERATURE __SCULPTURE
.-1600-1699 X_ARCHITECTU RE __EDUCATION __MILITARY —SOCIALHUMANITARIAN
1{1 700-1799 —ART __ENGINEERING —_MUSIC __THEATER
&1800-1899 _COMMEBCE _ EXPLORATION/SETTLEMENT __PHILOSOPHY __TRANSPORTATION
—_1900- __COMMUNICATIONS __INDUSTRY }LPOLITICS/GOVERNMENT __OTHER (SPECIFY)

__INVENTION
SPECIFIC DATES BUILDER/ARGCHITECT

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

"gituated on the very edge of Chestertown, it's fields running to
the river on one side, this pleasant, picturesque home was called for
many hears "The White House Farm". The same family has owned it for
several generations, as Mrs. Walker is a linial descendant of the first
proprietor. The original grant of the land was conferred upon the
early English Colonist Dr. Richard Tilghman, and the tract thus patented
included what is now the site of Chestertown.

By the will of Marie Foxley Tilghamn, who survived her husband
and was executrix of his estate, we learn that one of their duaghters
named Rebecca, married Simon Wilmer, another colonist from England
about 1658. Marie Foxley Tilghman, the widow of Richard Tilghman in
1659 conveyed by deed to his daughter Rebecca Wilmer, and her husband,
a part of his estate on the Kent side of the Chester River known as
Tilghman and Foxley Grove, containing 1,000 acres and which finally
received the name of Stephey, The White House Farm. The Dayster by G.L
L. Davis Esq., a Maryland historian affirms that Chestertown is located
on the tract above mentioned as Tilghamns and Foxley Grove. Their
son Simon, and grandson Lambert Wilmer, inherited this home place;
their children intermarrying with the Gordon Family and the Tylden
Families, these last intermarrying with the Hynson Family making the
children of these brances lineal descendants of the first Richard and
Marie Foxley Tilghman

The White House Farm remained in the possession of the Wilmers
until about 1820, when it was conveyed by Simon Wilmer to his first
cousin, Mrs. Frisby Gordon, whose mother was a Wilmer and whose grand-
daughter owned it until the last few years when it was sold to Mr.
Walter Wright. Some of the Early Wilmers have long slept in the family
burial ground on this White House Farm. Among the latter ones interred
there is a sister of the late Judge John B. Eccleston, whose husband
was Ringgold Wilmer.

Rev. Simon Wilmer, the grandfather of the former Bishop of Alabama,
married his cousin, who was called the beautiful Miss Ann Ringgold and
lived on this White House Farm. This Rev. Simon is seen on horseback,
wearing his broad brimmed clerical hal, in the highly-prized landscape
painting, by Charles Wilson Peale, and on the pa'ch are Mrs. Wilmer and
another lady, either Mrs. Wilmer's sister or daughter, it is believed.
In the distance is Chestertown, the Episcopal Church and Washington
College being the most prominent buildings in view.

The original plot of the White House Farm designates it as a tobacco
plantation, showing but one house from the river to the mill."

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARy (From - Usilton, Fred T, The

History of KentCo., Md., 1630-1916, Chestertown, 1916.)
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# 7 Continued

the northeast facade was the formal one, further suggesting a
service function. One original window opening has a rowlock of
glazed headers.

The gambrel roof was replaced with a flat roof in the mid-
19th century and the end wall was rebuilt. No woodwork remains
inside, that in the room adjacent the main house was removed by
a family member to 2101 "R" Street N.W., Washington, DC. Accord-
ing to an o0ld letter it had pilasters flanking the fireplace
opening and a panel painted by Peale above the mantle. The panel,
showing the exterior of the house 1is in Annapolis.
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Stepne Manor, located southwest of Chestertown is the resuit of several
atages of building. The manor was granted to Simon yilmer in 1659 who left
it in turn to nis 8on of the same name, who was one of the first vestrymen
of St. Paul's parish. when the county seat of Kent was moved from New Yarmouth
to Chestertown, in » 1t was laid out on part of the original Stepne
Manor,

The rear wing is said to have been constructed shortly after 1659, It
was originally a five-bay long gambrel roof dwelling laid in Flemish bond
brick with glazed headers on the longest facades. Aground the turn of the
century (1900), the floop plan amd roof were changed and the interior woodwork
removed to a house in washington, p,c,

Around the middle 19th century, the front part of the house was constructe,
This section was a five bay long, two bay wide, three skoty, flat roof house,
also built of obrick. It bas a center double door with transom and sidelights
wood lintels wi th decorative dorner blocks above the windowss and doors. The brick
of the facade is very smooth, laid in all stretcher bond and hasg very narrow
white mortar joints. sSash were 6/6, 6/6 and 3/3. During the alterations
of the first decade of this century, the roof was made into a gambrel, removing
the thrid story windows and wall, making a half-story of the attic, even though
the apex of the roof is actually higher than the earlier roof, There are three

double dormers on the gambrel roof.
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